IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STANLEY RAY ROGERS,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 76,456

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

(On Appeal from the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit In and For Broward County, Florida)

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
301 N. Olive Avenue/9th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-2150

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and Appellee was the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Martin County, Florida. In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court.

The following symbols will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal

"2SR" Supplemental Record
(Pursuant to this Court's Order of December 18,
1992 -- received February, 1992).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Stanley Ray Rogers, was charged with one count of first degree murder, two counts of kidnapping, and one count of attempted sexual battery (R2994-2998). Jury selection began on May 21, 1990. At the close of the state's case, and at the close of all the evidence, Appellant moved for judgment of acquittal (R1519,1910-1911,2086-2097). Appellant's motions were denied (R1520,2097). The jury found Appellant quilty of all offenses as charged (R2536-2537). Appellant was adjudicated guilty of all offenses (R4347). The jury recommended the death penalty (R2880). The trial court sentenced Appellant to death for the murder charge (R4349). The trial court departed from the recommended quideline sentence and sentenced Appellant to life in prison for the two kidnapping counts and to thirty years in prison for the attempted sexual battery (R4350-4356). A timely notice of appeal was filed (R4229-4330).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The relevant facts are as follows. Stacey Bevis testified that on April 3, 1989, she was driving on State Road 707 in Jensen Beach with her husband when a car swerved into her lane (R977-978). The other vehicle was moving extremely slow (R986). Mrs. Bevis could see that two people were struggling in the middle of the car (R979). Mrs. Bevis drove a little bit further, but decided to go back because of the fighting she had seen (R979). She pulled up thirty feet from the car with her headlights facing the car (R979). Appellant walked away from the car to the other side of the road (R980-981). His shirt was ripped (R988). Appellant put his hand toward his back pocket (R980-981). Mr. Bevis walked to the other car and yelled into it (R981). He then returned to the car and the Bevises went to the "Li'l Saints Store" and called 911 (R982). Later, the Bevises were taken to Orange Avenue by the police where they identified Appellant (R984).

Walter Bevis, Jr., testified that on April 3, 1989, he and his wife were travelling westbound on State Road 707 when they came around a bend at Beacon 21 and a vehicle was in their lane moving at two miles per hour (R994). The interior light of the car was on, but it appeared that something flew up and knocked it out (R1000). Mrs. Bevis honked the horn and the vehicle swerved and slammed on its brakes (R995). As the car swerved, Mr. Bevis heard a "pop" sound (R995). It appeared that somebody had been fighting in the car so the Bevises turned their car around and came back (R995). Appellant exited the front passenger's side door with his hand in his right back pocket (R995). Appellant walked directly

in front of the Bevises' car (R995). Appellant's shirt was ripped and he looked "very disheveled" and "messed up" (R1002). At that time Mr. Bevis thought Appellant might be a victim (R1001-1002). Appellant passed by and Mr. Bevis proceeded to holler into the other car but got no response (R995). The Bevises left to call the sheriff's department (R995). Mr. Bevis later returned to the car where a person was working on someone inside the car and asked for help (R997). About an hour later Mr. Bevis was asked to go to the area of Orange Avenue where he identified Appellant as the person he had seen walk away from the vehicle (R998).

Rene Daniel testified that at approximately 6:00 p.m. she arrived at "Mr. Laffs" to meet with friends and co-workers for a going away party (R1146-1147). After all Daniel's friends left, Daniel stayed with Mark Hastings and danced (R1201). Daniel stayed at Mr. Laff's until approximately 12:30 a.m. at which time she and Mark Hastings walked to her car (R1153). They leaned against her car and talked (R1154).

Daniel testified that as she and Hastings were talking, she noticed Appellant by a truck (R1207). Appellant could have been talking to the person in the truck (R1207). The truck left the parking lot (R1207). Appellant went over to a vehicle with its hood open and after a while approached them (R1154,1208). Appellant indicated that he had trouble with a wire in his car and asked them if they had a flashlight (R1156,1205). Appellant also said something about his friend not having a flashlight and not giving him a ride home (R1156). Daniel indicated that she didn't have a flashlight and Hastings suggested that Appellant check with

the bouncers (R1156). Appellant returned to his car which had its hood up (R1156,1158).

Daniel testified that Appellant later returned to her car and asked for a ride (R1159). Daniel suggested that they could pull her car around to use her headlights (R1161). Appellant indicated that he didn't have the necessary tool and asked for a ride (R1161). Appellant said that he lived a half mile away (R1161). Daniel and Hastings agreed to give Appellant a ride (R1161). Hastings decided to drive and Daniel sat in the front passenger's seat (R1161). Appellant got in the back seat (R1161). When they were ready to pull out of the lot Daniel mentioned that there was a back way and Appellant also said to go out the back way (R1163). The car turned onto State Road 707 (R1163).

Daniel testified that at some point while they were travelling on State Road 707, she looked back and saw Appellant pointing a gun at the back of Hastings' head (R1167). Daniel did not remember when the gun came out (R1214). Hastings started asking questions (R1168). Appellant answered that Hastings was in no position to be asking questions (R1168). Daniel kept taking her seatbelt off and putting it back on (R1168). Appellant told Daniel to take her clothes off (R1168). Daniel testified that Appellant never threatened her nor did she ever see the gun pointed at her (R1211-1212). Daniel just sat there (R1168). Appellant then told Hastings, "Make her take off her clothes" (R1168). Hastings said that he couldn't (R1168). Appellant squeezed Daniel's left breast (R1169). Daniel said, "Please don't do that" (R1169). At this point Hastings slowed the car down and indicated that he wasn't

from the area and turned the car around (R1169). Appellant told Hastings to take a right turn (R1169).

Daniel testified that instead of taking the turn, Hastings eased on by (R1169). Appellant twice told Hastings to take the right or he would pull the trigger (R1169). Hastings responded that he didn't want to do that because they would have a wreck (R1169). Daniel looked back and saw that Hastings had Appellant pinned against the seat (R1170). Hastings had turned to pin Appellant (R1220). Hastings told Daniel twice to get out of the car and run (R1170). Daniel jumped out of the car and ran (R1170). As she ran she heard a horn and then a shot (R1170). She then ran for help (R1170). Daniel called 911 and spoke with a dispatcher (R1172). Later, Daniel identified Appellant at a tree where he was handcuffed (R1174).

Daniel testified that she had taken acting lessons (R1192). Daniel learned from the prosecutor that Appellant lived back of the first right (R1218). Notwithstanding this, Hastings continued going straight when told to take the right turn (R1218).

Laura Dunne testified that she lives at Beacon 21 in Jensen Beach (R1026). On April 13, 1989, Dunne and her roommate were getting ready for bed when she heard banging on her door (R1029). Rene Daniel was hysterical and asked for help (R1056). Daniel said she thought someone had been shot (R1056). Daniel came inside and said she wanted to call 911 (R1087). Daniel dialed 911 and Dunne went to change (R1088,1090). Dunne returned and saw Daniel talking on the phone, but she couldn't hear what was said (R1090). Daniel was excited and so was Dunne (R1090).

After the call, Daniel's legs collapsed (R1092). Daniel was helped up, but was able to stand on her own (R1093). Daniel sat in the livingroom and Dunne and her roommate got her a soda Then they asked Daniel what happened (R1059). objection (R1044-1046), Dunne testified that Daniel told her what had happened that night (R1039). Dunne was told that Daniel was at Mr. Laff's having some drinks (R1059). She met a guy named Mark (R1059). She decided to go home (R1059). Mark walked to her car Dunne was told that Appellant approached and asked for (R1059). a flashlight (R1059). Dunne was told that they said no, and Appellant walked back to his car (R1059). Dunne was told that a few moments later Appellant returned and asked for a ride (R1059). Dunne was told that Daniel and Hastings looked at one another and agreed to give the ride (R1059). Dunne was told that they got into the car (R1059). Dunne was told that they drove a couple of miles and Appellant started touching Daniel (R1061). Dunne was told that Appellant told Daniel to take her clothes off (R1061). Dunne was told that Hastings asked what was happening (R1061). Dunne was told that Appellant responded by threatening to blow Hastings brains out (R1061). Dunne was told that Hastings slowed the car down, shielded the gun, and told Daniel to get out of the car and run (R1061). Dunne was told that Daniel got out of the car and ran to her house (R1061). Dunne was told that Appellant had held the gun on Hastings (R1061). Dunne testified that the prosecutor had given her a copy of Rene Daniel's statement to see if there were any inconsistencies with what Daniel had told Dunne the night she came to the door (R1073).

Sheila Collins testified that during the early morning hours of April 3, 1989, she looked out her condominium at State Road 707 and saw a car stopped on the road (R1014-1017). Collins saw a person run away from the car (R1018). Collins could not tell if the person was a man or a woman (R1019). Collins went around to the front of her condo and went outside to look (R1019). The car had moved approximately 100 yards (R1019). Collins noticed a young man walk up to the car and say, "Buddy are you all right?" (R1019-1020). Collins went back inside and called 911 (R1020). Collins returned outside and another young man told her to call 911 and to tell them it's an apparent gunshot wound to the head (R1020). Collins returned inside and woke her husband (R1021). They went outside to see if they could be of any assistance (R1022). Collins checked Mark Hastings for a pulse (R1022). There was no pulse (R1022).

Deputy Sheriff Jeffrey Smith of the Martin County Sheriff's Department testified that he received a 911 emergency call at 1:02 a.m. on April 3, 1989, from Rene Daniel (R1240). Daniel seemed like she was out of breath, almost on the verge of hysteria (R1241). Daniel stated that she had picked up a person in front of Mr. Laff's and had given him a ride up towards Beacon 21 (R1241). She said that a gun had been pulled and she had run from the vehicle and went to an apartment to make the call (R1241). She gave a description of the vehicle and the armed person (R1241).

Road 707 and he saw a car parked in the middle of the road with its door open (R1008). Volzinski walked up to the car and noticed a

man slumped over the steering wheel (R1009). Volzinski smelled alcohol and thought the man had been drinking and got into a fight with his girlfriend and she had run off (R1009). Volzinski tried to wake up the man, but he would not respond (R1009). Volzinski put his hands behind the neck of the man and then noticed blood all over his hands (R1009). The engine of the car was still running (R1009). The brake light was on (R1010). When the paramedics arrived and removed the man from the vehicle the car started moving forward (R1010). The man was in respiratory arrest when Volzinski arrived and Volzinski provided emergency aid (R1011).

Deputy James Warren of the Martin County Sheriff's Department testified that he went to the scene at State Road 707 and followed some footprints that led from the scene (R1259). Warren concluded that the prints showed someone was running. The prints went to a river bank and then would periodically appear in the grass area back to Orange Street (R1265).

Sergeant Bill Ward of the Martin County Sheriff's Department also testified that the prints were of a running type (R1278). The prints periodically could not be followed (R1278). The prints were lost at Orange Street to a grassy area (R1279). Officers were checking the area when Deputy Baker hollered, "He's here" (R1280). Ward ran to a big tree where Appellant was located (R1281). Baker had Appellant face down on the ground (R1285).

Deputy William Baker of the Martin County Sheriff's Department testified that he also tracked the prints from the scene (R1290-1291). Baker followed the prints to an area near Orange Street (R1294). Baker saw Appellant sitting, leaning, or crouched against

a tree (R1295,1297). Baker drew his gun and told Appellant not to move (R1295). Baker arrested Appellant (R1295).

Crystal Haubert testified that she was a paramedic who arrived at the scene of the arrest at approximately 2:34 a.m. (R1327). Appellant was on the ground with his hands cuffed (R1327). Appellant had a scratch on his face (R1331). Haubert checked Appellant to see if he was conscious (R1330). The reaction of his pupils to light was sluggish (R1334). This is normal for a person who has been drinking (R1334). An ammonia ampule placement resulted in Appellant opening his eyes and coughing (R1333). During a second placement, Appellant held his breath (R1333). The eyelid flutter test showed that Appellant was not totally unconscious (R1330). From the examination, Haubert concluded that Appellant had been in a state of semi-consciousness (R1335).

John Holman of Martin County Fire Rescue testified that he also did a quick examination of Appellant at the arrest scene (R1308-1312). From the examination there were indications of some consciousness (R1314). Holman was unable to make a definite conclusion whether Appellant was aware of his surroundings (R1322).

Scott Marcum of the Martin County Sheriff's Department testified that he did the crime scene investigation on April 3 (R804-805). Marcum was informed that the suspect was apprehended and went to that location (R806-807). Appellant had been found approximately one-eighth (1/8) of a mile from the scene of the shooting (R909-910). Appellant was searched (R911). A gun was found in his pocket (R912). There was one bullet in the chamber (R913). There were no bullets in Appellant's other pockets (R912).

Rene Daniel's car was examined and three cartridges were found -two live and one spent (R915).

Marcum also testified that he later collected Appellant's and Mark Hastings' clothes at the hospital (R825). Both Appellant and Mark Hastings were swabbed for gun shot residue (R920-921). The swabs were sent to the FBI (R922). Marcum does not believe that requests were made for analysis of Appellant's or Hastings' clothing (R927). Photographs were not sent for a blood splatter analysis (R929). FBI results as to the swab test on Appellant came back (R923). No results were returned as to the Hastings swab (R925). No further tests were sought (R925).

Dr. Stewart Goodman testified as an expert in neurosurgery (R1340). On April 3, 1989, Goodman was on call at St. Mary's Hospital in Palm Beach County (R1340). Goodman saw Mark Hastings for a gun shot wound to the head (R1341). Hastings was almost to the point of brain dead (R1342). Hastings was pronounced dead at 9:45 p.m. on April 3, 1989 (R1343). The cause of death was severe brain injury caused by a bullet that penetrated into the brain (R1343). From the CT scan it looked like the bullet entered just above the back of the ear (R1343-44).

Dr. Raul Vila, associate medical examiner with Broward County, testified as an expert in forensic pathology (R1348). Vila performed the autopsy on Mark Hastings on April 4, 1989 (R1348, 1357). Hastings had a gunshot wound to the head on the right side (R1348). The "projectile went through a right to left back and front and slightly upward trajectory" (R1351). The cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head (R1354). The wound was not a

contact wound (R1354). The shot was from 12 to 15 inches (R1354). Hastings was six feet tall and 180 pounds (R1358). Hastings was a muscular individual (R1358). There was 51 nanograms/millimeter of marijuana in Hastings' blood (R1362). In the cases that Vila has seen, this is not really a high level (R1366). Vila had no idea as to the position of Hastings' head when the shot was fired (R1373). Vila could not tell where the gun was pointed (R1360).

Detective Tim Fury of the Martin County Sheriff's Department testified that he searched the Rio area of Jensen Beach trying to locate the residence of Appellant (R1386). Fury testified that one could travel eastbound on State Road 707 and turn right at either Rio or the next road to get to Appellant's house (R1391). If one of the roads was taken, one could walk across a yard to reach Appellant's house (R1391). Both roads would lead one directly to Appellant's house (R1392).

Detective William Pakonis testified that he spoke with Appellant's landlord and searched through Appellant's trash (R1395). Pakonis found a box of twenty-five caliber ammunition in a plastic K-Mart bag (R1396).

FBI Agent Jack Riley testified that swabs for residue were taken from the victim's hands but were not tested (R1413).

John O'Rourke, an expert in the field of firearms examination, testified that Appellant's gun was a single action firearm (R1426). The static pressure required to pull the trigger was 3.8 to 4.7 pounds, which is below the 4 to 6 pounds average pressure (R1429, 1433). O'Rourke testified that if one person held the gun with his finger on the trigger and another person was grabbing the top of

the gun during a struggle, the gun could go off and, after the round is ejected, the gun would be left with its hammer back (R1460). O'Rourke also testified that if one finger was on the trigger and it remained still while a person on top pulled the gun the finger could be pulled back against the trigger (R1460-1461). The results might be different if no one's finger was on the trigger (R1455-1458).

The chief criminologist at the regional crime laboratory, Daniel Nippes, testified that he test fired Appellant's gun (R1465,1468). Nippes also examined Mark Hastings' shirt (R1471). Two buttons were missing from the shirt (R1473). One of the buttons was recovered from the back seat of Rene Daniel's car (R1473). Hair samples from Daniel were found on Hastings (R1484). From his examinations, Nippes concluded that the gun was fired at a range of less than 3 feet (R1487). The best estimation was 2 feet (R1492).

Deputy Sheriff Charles Rowe of the Martin County Sheriff's Department testified that he met with Rene Daniel on the night of the shooting (R1538). Rowe thought Daniel told him the gun was pulled after Hastings turned the car around (R1540). Daniel stated that after the turn Appellant appeared to become irrational (R1540).

Appellant testified that he went with his boss, John Privuznak to examine a car (R1665). Appellant bought the car for \$100.00 (R1665). When Appellant got the car to the shop the motor cut off and the car would not restart (R1666). David McKenney said that he would work on the car (R1667). On April 2, 1989, Appellant

packed a cooler and waited for Brooks Emerson (R1667). They were going to go to the races (R1667). However, Emerson changed his mind (R1669). Appellant went to Sid Tinkler's house and drank some beers (R1670). The two men then bought a twelve pack and decided to go to the beach (R1670). After the beach, the two men went to "Shuckers" and had some drinks (R1671). They left for Tinkler's house at approximately 4:00 or 5:00 p.m. (R1671-1672). They agreed to meet at Mr. Laff's later (R1672). Donnie Strasner stopped by Appellant's place and the two went to Mr. Laff's together in Strasner's car (R1673). They arrived at around 8:00 p.m. (R1673).

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