IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 76,456

CLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By
Chief Deputy Clerk

STANLEY RAY ROGERS,

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 656879 111 Georgia Avenue, Suite 204 West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 Telephone: (407) 837-5062

Counsel for Appellee

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

The prosecutor's reference to Daniel's statements to police did not contribute to the verdict. There was no undue emphasis regarding the prior consistent statements, they were not a focal point of the case and the jury was already aware that Ms. Daniel had given consistent statements to Laurie Dunn and Officer Smith. (R 1055-137, 1239-1248, 2011-2015). Any error must deemed harmless. State v. Lee, 531 So.2d 133 (Fla. 1988); State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING RENE DANIEL PRIOR CONSISTENT STATEMENT AS IT WAS ADMISSIBLE AS AN EXCITED OR SPONTANEOUS UTTERANCE

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in allowing Laurie Dunn to testify regarding a statement given to her by Rene Daniel. The trial court admitted the testimony as an excited utterance and/or spontaneous statement. (R 1042-1046). Appellant alleges that the statement cannot be considered an excited utterance because it was made after Ms. Daniel was able to sit down, drink a soda, and reflect on the events that had just taken place. (R 1035-1036). The trial court's ruling to the contrary was correct. Jano v. State, 524 So.2d 660 (Fla. 1988).

In order for Dunn's hearsay statement to be admissible under Sections 90.803(1) and (2), Fla. Stat. (1979), Daniel's statement to Laurie Dunn must satisfy certain essential elements. As outlined by this Court in Jano, there must be an event which causes nervous excitement, the statement was made before there was any time to contrive the statement, and the statement was made while the person was under stress of excitement caused by the event. Jano, 524 So.2d at 661. A review of the record establishes that the essential elements listed above have been met.

Daniel's was clearly upset and nervous about the events that just took place in her car. She perceived the

situation as life threatening to both herself and Mark Hastings. (R 1176). The statement to Laurie Dunn was made within eight to ten minutes of the time that Daniel ran to Dunn's apartment for help. (R 1033). Consequently, there was little if any time to contrive or misrepresent the situation. Finally the statements made by Daniel were made while she was still under the stress of the event. She was fearful and concerned for the safety of Mark Hastings, as she called 911 and continually expressed concern for him. (R 1172, 1176, 1241, 1251 2009-2015). The trial court correctly admitted the testimony of Ms.Dunn. Power v. State, 17 FLW S572, 574 (Fla. August 27, 1992); Ware v. State, 596 So.2d 1200, 1201 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1992).

In the alternative, if this Court determines that the trial court erred, such error must considered harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Rene Daniel testified at trial and was subject to cross-examination regarding her statements. (R 1176-1221). Dunn's statement was cumulative as the jury heard Daniel's similar statement made to the 911 operator. Furthermore the jury was aware that Daniel gave

⁴ Unlike the situation in <u>Preston v. State</u>, 470 So.2d 836, 837 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1985), there was no possible reason for Daniel to contrive the story. Any compromising fact regarding Daniel would be that she was a married woman in the company of another man, Mark Hastings. That fact was already established and admitted by her. Resolution of the real issue, i.e., did appellant kill Mark Hastings in self defense or was it premeditated murder, is not furthered by whether or not Daniel association with Hastings involved marital infidelity or not.

consistent statements to the police. (See Issue I). <u>Powers;</u>
<u>Hamilton v. State</u>, 547 So.2d 630, 633 (Fla. 1989).

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PLAYING AN AUDIOTAPE OF RENE DANIEL TESTIMONY FOLLOWING THE JURY'S REQUEST FOR A "READBACK"

Appellant claims that trial court erred in allowing the jury to hear an audio readback of Rene Daniel' testimony. Appellant has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion. Haliburton v. State, 561 So.2d 248 (1990), cert. denied, 111 S.Ct. 2910 (1990).

Appellant contends that the audio tape distorted the jury's view of the witness's demeanor. Appellant claims that he was relying on the fact that Ms. Daniel was "putting on" even though she was hysterical. He claims that her physical performance was fake. Although appellant claims that this fact was important in his defense, trial counsel never made mention of this "flaw" in Ms. Daniel's testimony during closing argument. (R 2356-2421). Furthermore since the only available means of allowing the jury to consider Daniel' testimony was to playback the tape, the trial court was correct in allowing the jury to hear the tape. Waddy v. State, 355 So.2d 477 (1st DCA 1978).

ISSUE IV

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S REQUEST FOR THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION ON PRIOR THREATS AS THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO WARRANT SUCH AN CHARGE

Appellant requested that the trial court instruct the jury regarding the standard jury instruction on prior threats or difficulties with the victim. (R 2232). Appellant attempts to characterize Hasting's alleged false imprisonment of him as a prior threat. (R 2232). The trial court properly ruled that the requested instruction was not applicable as that portion of the instruction was relevant for prior conduct only, difficulties not occurring during the incident in question. (R Testimony regarding violent actions of the victim that occurred before the murder are relevant and admissible. Reddick v. State, 443 So.2d 482, 483 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1984). See generally Santana v. State, 535 So.2d 689 (Fla. 1988); King v. State, 545 So.2d 375 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988).

A review of appellant's own testimony indicates that the alleged false imprisonment of appellant by Hastings occurred within minutes of the shooting. (R 1703, 1774). Clearly, Hastings alleged actions cannot be considered as a prior incident within the meaning of the instruction.

Furthermore, the self defense instructions that were given clearly covered appellant's defense. (R 2233). The instructions adequately explained to the jury that appellant was

defending himself from Hastings's alleged attempt at forcing appellant to remain in the car against his will. (R 2471-2475). The trial court correctly denied appellant's request. <u>United State v. Camejo</u>, 929 F.2d 610 (11th Cir. 1991).

ISSUE V

THE TRIAL COURT'S RULING DID NOT FORCE PRESENTATION OF EVIDENCE/COMMENT ON APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO REMAIN SILENT

Appellant alleges that a state witness was allowed to comment on appellant's right to remain silent during cross-examination of the witness. A review of the record reveals that no such error occurred.

During opening statement, appellant's attorney claimed that appellant was in shock after the accidental shooting. (R 730). In an attempt to rebut that contention, the state introduced the testimony of John Holman, an emergency medical technician who treated appellant at the scene. (R 1304-1326). Mr. Holman testified that after administering certain tests, he concluded that appellant was conscious and aware of his surroundings and was simply feigning unconsciousness. (R 1312-1325).

On cross-examination, defense counsel attempted to impeach Holman's conclusion with an answer he had given during his deposition. (R 1318). At that deposition when asked if he [Holman] could determine if appellant was aware of his surroundings, Holman responded:

"I'm not able to tell you that. He opened his eyes again. He was never verbal with anything we did. He would not answer anything. So."

(R 1322). Trial counsel attempted to preclude the witness from reading his entire answer, he simply wanted Holman to read the

first sentence only, "I'm not able to tell you that". (R 1321). The trial court required that the witness's complete answer be read. (R 1322).

The trial court's ruling was correct. Under the rule of completeness, Section 90.108, Florida Statutes (1987), Holman's complete answer was properly admitted in order to rebut or explain an inference that he was not able to ascertain if appellant was conscious or not. Johnson v. State, 17 FLW S603, 650 (Fla. October 1, 1992). Although he stated as such at deposition, he qualified his answer by also stating what his observations were regarding appellant's demeanor/general state. Given trial counsel's questions, the trial court's ruling was correct. Tompkins v. State, 502 So.2d 415, 419 (1986), cert. denied, 483 U.S. 1033, 110 S.Ct. 555, 107 L.Ed.2d 551 (1986).

If this Court should determine that the remainder of Holman's answer was irrelevant, reversal is not warranted as his answer cannot be considered a comment on appellant's right to remain silent. In all the cases relied upon by appellant, it is clear that the offending remarks were made by police officers in response to direct questions concerning whether the defendant spoke after he was "Mirandized" or was arrested. State v. Thorton, 491 So.2d 1143, 1144 (Fla. 1986); Graham v. State, 573 So.2d 166, 167 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); Hicks v. State, 590 So.2d 498, 500 (Fla. 3rd 1991). Appellant's reliance on State v. Kinchen, 490 So.2d 21, 22 (Fla. 1985) is also of no moment as it relates to defendant's right not to testify. In the instant case, appellant took the stand in his own defense. (R 1658-1798).

When looking at the context in which the statement was made it is clear that the remark did not involve appellant's right to remain silent nor was there any state action involved. State v. Jones, 461 So.2d 97, 99 (Fla. 1984). Holman was not involved in the arrest or apprehension of appellant as in Hicks, 590 So.2d at 500. He was there to medically treat appellant. (R 1307-1317). The question asked which elicited the challenged remark had nothing to do with what appellant said or did not say when he was arrested. It was directed exclusively to the issue of appellant's state of mind at the time of the murder, i.e. inferentially, his ability to form the intent to commit first degree murder. Jones.

In any event any mention of appellant's failure to answer any of the medical personnel's questions must also be considered harmless as they are cumulative. Crystal Hubert, another EMT treating appellant made identical statements regarding appellant's unwillingness to answer questions. (R 1335). Her testimony was not objected to and not raised as an issue on appeal.

Furthermore given the overwhelming evidence of guilt, Holman's statement should be considered harmless error. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). As stated in DiGuilio, application of the harmless error test requires a close examination of the impermissible evidence and the possible influence it may have had on the jury. Id at 1138. The fact that appellant did not make a statement to police when he was

apprehended did not contribute to the verdict. The testimony of Rene Daniel along with the lack of credibility in appellant's explanation is responsible for the jury's verdict. Holman's innocuous comment that appellant did not respond verbally to the paramedics neither bolstered Daniel's testimony nor negated appellant's testimony. It is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that Holman's comment did not affect the jury's verdict. DiGuilio.

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL FOR ATTEMPTED SEXUAL BATTERY, KIDNAPPING, AND MURDER

Appellant contends that grabbing Ms. Daniel's breast in conjunction with holding a gun to Hastings's head and ordering that Daniel take her clothes off is insufficient evidence of attempted sexual battery. The trial court properly denied appellant's motion for judgement of acquittal. (R 2090-2094).

In moving for a judgement of acquittal, a defendant admits both the facts in evidence and every favorable conclusion to the state that can be drawn from that evidence. Lynch v. State, 293 So.2d 44, 45 (Fla. 1974); Taylor v. State, 583 So.2d 323, 328 (Fla. 1991). Issues regarding credibility are not the focus in a determination of a judgement of acquittal. Lynch, Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521, 523 (1978), cert. denied, 461 U.S. 103 S.Ct. 1883 (1983).

Although a woman's breast is not considered a sexual organ for purposes of the completed act of sexual battery, clearly appellant's actions evidence his intent to commit such a battery on Daniel. While holding a gun at Hasting head, appellant first tells Ms. Daniel to take her clothes off. When she made no effort to do so, appellant then said to Hastings:

"Make her take her clothes off". (R 1168). Hastings replied: " I can't make her take off her clothes".

Appellant then grabbed and squeezed Ms. Daniel's breast. (R 1168-69). At that time Hastings slowed the car down and attempted to turn the car around to go back towards Mr. Laff's. (R 1169). Appellant threatened to kill Hastings if he did not drive where he was told to go. (R 1169). Hastings attempts to reason with him explaining that if he shoots Hastings the car will wreck. Hastings then pinned appellant to the seat and told Daniel to escape, which she did. (R 1170).

Ms. Daniel testimony clearly establishes appellant's attempt to commit a sexual battery. Contrary to his assertions otherwise, appellant's use of a gun in conjunction with ordering Daniel to take off her clothes, then ordering Hastings to make her take off her clothes, followed by the unconsensual touching of Daniel's breast are overt acts by appellant which infer his intent. Morehead v. State, 556 So.2d 523, 525 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991); State v. Carter, 452 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

With the same principles in mind, the trial court properly denied appellant's motion for judgement of acquittal for two counts of kidnapping. Although appellant was allowed to get into Daniel's car under the pretense that they were giving him a ride home, there was sufficient evidence of subsequent movement of the car done to facilitate the attempted sexual battery. Gilley v. State, 412 So.2d 68 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982). Appellant secretly isolated his victims from meaningful contact with the public. Robinson v. State, 462 So.2d 471 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). The overall movement of the car away from the parking lot of Mr.

Laff's, away from people, along with appellant pulling the gun on Hastings directing the removal of Daniel clothes was sufficient evidence of kidnapping. <u>Dowdell v. State</u>, 415 So.2d 144 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980); <u>Lamanin v. State</u>, 515 So.2d 309 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987). Clearly, both victims were not free to leave. Simply because Hastings was able to temporarily subdue appellant in order for Ms. Daniel to escape does not mean that both victims were not initially kidnapped.

The trial court correctly denied appellant's motion for judgement of acquittal for first degree murder. During both opening and closing argument appellant's counsel stated that the outcome of the case depended on which witnesses the jury believed. If the jury believed the testimony of Rene Daniel then appellant should be convicted, if the jury believed the testimony of appellant then he should be acquitted. (R 720, 2420-2421). Since the issue was one of credibility, the motion for JOA was properly denied. Lynch. The jury is not required to believe appellant's version of the killing when conflicting evidence is presented by the state. Cochran v. State, 547 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1989). There was substantial competent evidence to sustain the jury's verdict. Appellant's motion was properly denied. Bedford v. State, 589 So.2d 245 (Fla. 1991).

⁵ See harmless error analysis in Issue I.

ISSUE VII

THE ALLEGED IMPROPER COMMENTS MADE BY THE TRIAL COURT WERE NOT OBJECTED TO AND DO NOT CONSTITUTE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR, CONSEQUENTLY THIS ISSUE IS PRECLUDED FORM REVIEW

Appellant complains that the trial court made two improper comments in the jury's presence which require reversal of his conviction. Since neither comment was objected to, this issue is not preserved for appeal. Herzog v. State, 439 So.2d 1372, 1376 (Fla. 1983). Given that the alleged comments do not amount to a denial of due process nor involve a jurisdictional error they cannot be considered fundamental. Review is precluded. Ray v. State, 403 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1981); Sochor v. State, 580 So.2d 595 (1991), remanded on other grounds, 504 U.S., 119 L.Ed.2d 326, 112 S.Ct. (1992).

In the alternative, neither comment by the court requires reversal. A review of the record reveals that the trial court was simply explaining to the jury why there was a delay. No prejudicial information was revealed to the jury as in <u>United States v. Hansen</u>, 544 F.2d 778, 780 (5th Cir. 1977), a case relied upon by appellant. The trial court never said that the state had additional evidence that was not going to be admitted, the court simply made a general comment regarding "a ruling". (R 1998). Consequently the judge's amorphous explanation cannot be considered prejudicial. Unlike the situation in <u>Ferber v. State</u>, 353 So.2d 1256 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1978), his explanation also included

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